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INDICTMENT 

The Grand Jury charges that: 

GENERAL ALLEGATIONS 

At all times relevant to this Indictment, 

The Health Insurance Programs 

1. The Medicare Program ("Medicare") was a federal health care program providing 

benefits to persons who were 65 or older or disabled. Medicare was administered by the United 

States Department of Health and Human Services ("HHS") through its agency, the Centers for 

Medicare & Medicaid Services ("CMS,,). Individuals who received benefits under Medicare 

were referred to as Medicare "beneficiaries." 



2. The Florida Medicaid Program ("Medicaid") provided benefits to certain low-

income individuals and families in Florida. Medicaid was administered by CMS and the Agency 

for Health Care Administration ("ACHA"). Medicare and Medicaid were each a "health care 

benefit program," as defined by Title 18, United States Code, Section 24(b), and a "federal 

health care program," as defined by Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320(a)-7(b )-f. 

3. The Medicare program was divided into four "parts" that cover different services. 

Medicare Part A generally covers inpatient hospital services, home health and hospice care, and 

skilled nursing and rehabilitation care. 

4. Subject to certain conditions, Medicare Part A covered up to 100 days of skilled 

nursing and rehabilitation care for a benefit period (i.e., spell of illness) following a qualifying 

hospital stay of at least three consecutive days. 42 U.S.C. § 1395d(a)(2)(A); 42 C.F.R. 

§ 409.61(b), (c). 

5. The conditions that Medicare imposed on its Part A skilled nursing facility 

("SNF") benefit included: (1) that the patient required skilled nursing care or skilled 

rehabilitation services (or both) on a daily basis, (2) that the daily skilled services must be 

services that, as a practical matter, could only be provided in a skilled nursing facility on an 

inpatient basis, and (3) that the services were provided to address a condition for which the 

patient received treatment during a qualifying hospital stay or that arose while the patient was 

receiving care in a skilled nursing facility (for a condition treated during the hospital stay). 42 

U.S.C. § 1395f(a)(2)(B); 42 C.F.R. § 409.31(b). 

6. Medicare required that a physician or certain other practitioners certify that these 

conditions were met at the time of a patient's admission to the nursing facility and to re-certify to 

the patient's continued need for skilled rehabilitation therapy services at regular intervals 
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thereafter. See 42 U.S.C. § 1395f(a)(2)(B); Medicare General Information, Eligibility, and 

Entitlement Manual, Ch. 4, § 40.3. 

7. To assist in the administration of Medicare Part A, CMS contracted with "fiscal 

intermediaries." 42 U.S.C. § 1395h. Fiscal intermediaries, typically insurance companies, were 

responsible for processing and paying claims and cost reports. 

8. Beginning in or around November 2006, Medicare Administrative Contractors 

began replacing both the carriers and fiscal intermediaries. See Fed. Reg. 67960, 68181 (Nov. 

2006). The MACs generally acted on behalf of CMS to process and pay Part A (as well as 

Medicare Part B) claims and perform administrative functions on a regional level. See 42 § 

C.F.R. 421.5(b). 

9. In Florida, First Coast Service Options, Inc. ("First Coast") served as the fiscal 

intermediary and carrier until September 2008, at which time it was awarded a contract to serve 

as the MAC for the Florida region. 

10. Providers who wished to be eligible to participate m Medicare Part A were 

requested to periodically sign an application form, CMS Form 855A. The application, which 

was required to be signed by an authorized representative of the provider, contained a 

certification that states: 

I agree to abide by the Medicare laws, regulations, and program 
instructions that apply to this provider. The Medicare laws, 
regulations, and program instructions are available through the 
Medicare contractor. I understand that payment of a claim by 
Medicare is conditioned upon the claim and the underlying 
transaction complying with such laws, regulations and program 
instructions (including, but not limited to, the federal anti-kickback 
statute and the Stark law), and on the provider's compliance with 
all applicable conditions of participation in Medicare. 

11. CMS Form 855A contained additional certifications that the provider "will not 

knowingly present or cause to be presented a false or fraudulent claim for payment by Medicare 
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and will not submit claims with deliberate ignorance or reckless disregard of their truth or 

falsity." 

12. Every SNF cost report contained a "Certification" that must be signed by the chief 

administrator of the provider or a responsible designee of the administrator. 

13. SNFs submitted the CMS-1450 electronically under Medicare Part A to their local 

fiscal intermediary or MAC, which in this case was First Coast. First Coast, on behalf of CMS, 

processed and paid the Medicare Part A claims. 

14. In addition to the services covered under Medicare Part A, Medicare Part B 

provided coverage for, among other things, certain physician office and home visits, and other 

health care benefits, items, and services. The physician services at issue in this Indictment were 

covered by Part B. 

15. An "Assisted Living Facility'' or "ALF" was a facility licensed by the Florida 

Agency for Health Care Administration, whether operated for profit or not, which undertook 

through its ownership or management, to provide housing, meals, and one or more personal 

services for a period exceeding 24 hours to one or more adults who were not relatives of the 

owner or administrator. Medicaid covered a portion of certain costs associated with ALF stays. 

The Defendants, Related Companies and Individuals 

16. Defendant PHILIP ESFORMES, a resident of Miami-Dade County, controlled, 

owned, or operated the following SNFs and ALFs (collectively referred to as the "Esformes 

Network"), located throughout Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and 

elsewhere: 
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Facility Name Type of Facility 
Adar Associates/Dvar Tove, LLC ALF 

ADME Investment Partners LTD dba 
Oceanside Extended Care 

SNF 

Adirhu Associates LLC ALF 

Almovea Associates LLC dba North Dade Nursing and "''
Rehabilitation Center 

---• - -··"' SNF 

Ayintove Associates LLC dba 
Harmony Health Center 

SNF 

Courtyard Manor Retirement Living, Inc. ALF 
Eden Gardens LLC ALF 
Fair Havens Holding LLC/Fair Havens Center LLC SNF/ALF 
Flamingo Park Manor LLC/The Pointe ALF 
La Covadonga Retirement Living, Inc. ALF 
Lake Erswin LLC dba South Hialeah 
Manor/Interamerican 

ALF 

Kabirhu Associates LLC dba Golden Glades Nursing and 
Rehabilitation Center 

SNF 

Lauderhill Manor LLC ALF 
La Serena Retirement Living LLC/La Hacienda 
Gardens/Rainbow 

ALF 

Jene's Retirement Living, Inc./Jene's Retirement Investors 
Ltd dba North Miami Retirement Living 

ALF 

Sefardilc Associates, LLC dba 
The Nursing Center at Mercy 

SNF 

T akifhu Associates LLC dba South Dade Nursing and 
Rehabilitation Center 

SNF 

Williamsburg Retirement Living ALF 

17. Defendant ODETTE BARCHA, a resident of Miami-Dade County, was the 

registered agent and director of Barcha Consulting, Inc. ("Barcha Consulting"), a Florida 

corporation, and was the Director of Outreach Programs at Hospital 1. 

18. Defendant ARNALDO CARMOUZE, a resident of Miami-Dade County, was a 

physician's assistant ("PA") licensed in the State ofFlorida. 

19. Guillermo Delgado was a resident ofMiami-Dade County. 

20. Gabriel Delgado was a resident ofMiami-Dade County. 

21. Diversified Investment Group of Miami, Inc., Diversified Medical Group, La 
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Covadonga Management Group LLC, and Preferred Providers Group, Inc., were Florida 

corporations owned and controlled by Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado ( collectively "the Delgado 

Companies"). 

22. Guillermo Delgado and Gabriel Delgado owned, controlled and/or operated 

Tender Touch Home Health LLC ("Tender Touch") and St. Jude Health Care, Inc. ("St. Jude"), 

Florida corporations. 

23. Nelson Salazar, a resident of Miami-Dade County, was the owner of Nursing 

Unlimited 2000, Inc. ("Nursing Unlimited"), a Florida corporation. 

24. Jose Carlos Morales, a resident of Miami-Dade County, was the owner of 

Pharmovisa, Inc. and Pharmovisa, MD, Inc. ( collectively "Pharmovisa"), Florida corporations. 

25. Pharmacy 1, Pharmacy 2, and Pharmacy 3 were pharmacies in Miami-Dade 

County. 

26. American Therapeutic Corporation and Greater Miami Behavioral Health Care 

Center, Inc. ("Greater Miami") were partial hospitalization programs in Miami-Dade County. 

27. Diagnostic Company 1, Diagnostic Company 2, Diagnostic Company 3, 

Diagnostic Company 4, and Diagnostic Company 5, were diagnostic companies in Miami-Dade 

and Broward Counties. 

28. Laboratory 1 was a laboratory in Miami-Dade County. 

29. Physician Vision Group 1 was a group of vision physicians in Miami-Dade 

County. 

30. Physician 1 was a resident of Miami-Dade County and worked with ARNALDO 

CARMOUZE. 

31. Escort 1 was a resident of Miami-Dade County. 

32. Escort 2 was a resident of Miami-Dade County. 
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33. Escort 3 was a resident of Broward County. 

34. Escort 4 was a resident of Miami-Dade County. 

35. Escort 5 was a resident of Miami-Dade County. 

36. Basketball Coach I was a resident of Houston, Texas, in Harris County. 

COUNTl 

Conspiracy to Commit Health Care Fraud and Wire Fraud 


(18 u.s.c. § 1349) 


I. Paragraphs 1 through 16 and 18 through 36 of the General Allegations section of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. From in or around January 2002, and continuing through in or around June 2016, 

in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES 
and 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

did willfully, that is with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly 

combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with Guillermo Delgado, Gabriel Delgado, Nelson 

Salazar, Jose Carlos Morales, each other, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to 

commit certain offenses against the United States, that is: 

a. to knowingly and willfully execute a scheme and artifice to defraud a 

health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 24(b ), that is, Medicare and Medicaid, and to obtain, by means of materially false and 

fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and under 

the custody and control of, said health care benefit program, in connection with the delivery of 

and payment for health care benefits, items, and services, in violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, 1347; and 

b. to knowingly and with the intent to defraud, devise and intend to devise a 
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scheme and artifice to defraud, and for obtaining money and property by means of materially 

false and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, knowing that the pretenses, 

representations, and promises were false and fraudulent when made, and did knowingly transmit 

-----· --- - ·-. - -- . 

and cause to be transmitted, by means of wire communication in interstate commerce, writings, 

signs, signals, pictures, and sounds for the purpose of executing such scheme and artifice, in 

violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1343. 

Purpose of the Conspiracy 

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for the defendants and their co-conspirators to 

unlawfully enrich themselves by, among other things: (a) submitting false and fraudulent claims 

to Medicare and Medicaid for claims based on kickbacks and bribes; (b) submitting and causing 

the submission of false and fraudulent claims to Medicare and Medicaid for services that were 

medically unnecessary, that were not eligible for Medicare and Medicaid reimbursement, and 

that were never provided; ( c) concealing the submission of false and fraudulent claims to 

Medicare and Medicaid; and ( d) diverting proceeds of the fraud for the personal use and benefit 

of the defendants and their co-conspirators in the form of compensation and other remuneration. 

Manner and Means 

The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to 

accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: 

4. PIDLIP ESFORMES owned and operated the Esformes Network, which gave 

him access to thousands ofMedicare and Medicaid beneficiaries. 

5. PIDLIP ESFORMES and co-conspirators negotiated and paid kickbacks to 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE and other medical professionals in exchange for medically 

unnecessary referrals to the Esformes Network and co-conspirators. 
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6. PHILIP ESFORMES, Nelson Salazar, Guillermo Delgado, Gabriel Delgado, 

and others created and caused to be created false and fraudulent invoices for durable medical 

equipment, which were submitted to Diversified Medical Group for payment, and used the funds 

to pay kickbacks and bribes to physicians and other medical professionals in exchange for 

medically unnecessary referrals to the Esformes Network and co-conspirators. 

7. On or about September 28, 2009, and again on or about January 1, 2012, PHILIP 

ESFORMES certified to Medicare that Harmony Health Center SNF would comply with all 

Medicare rules and regulations, including that he and Harmony Health Center SNF would refrain 

from violating the federal Anti-Kickback statute. 

8. On or about February 2, 2011, and again on or about March 22, 2011, PHILIP 

ESFORMES certified to Medicare that Fair Havens SNF would comply with all Medicare rules 

and regulations, including that he and Fair Havens SNF would refrain from violating the federal 

Anti-Kickback statute. 

9. Thereafter, PHILIP ESFORMES paid kickbacks to physicians in exchange for 

their referral of Medicare beneficiaries to be placed at Harmony Health Center, Fair Havens, and 

other SNFs. 

10. PHILIP ESFORMES caused Harmony Health Center, Fair Havens, and other 

SNFs under his control to file claims to Medicare for skilled nursing services for patients that 

were obtained through the payment of kickbacks to physicians. 

11. Co-conspirators paid PHILIP ESFORMES kickbacks, bribes, and other 

inducements, often through Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado, in exchange for referrals of 

Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries that were part of the Esformes Network. These co

conspirator providers included: Tender Touch, St. Jude, Nursing Unlimited, Pharmovisa, 

Pharmacy 1, Pharmacy 2, Pharmacy 3, American Therapeutic Corporation, Greater Miami, 
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Diagnostic Company 1, Diagnostic Company 2, Diagnostic Company 3, Diagnostic Company 4, 

and Diagnostic Company 5, Laboratory 1, Physician Vision Group 1, and other providers. 

12. PIDLIP ESFORMES received the kickbacks and bribes from the co-

conspirators which were disguised as: a) cash payments; b) payments to Escort 1, Escort 2, 

Escort 3, Escort 4, and Escort 5; c) charitable donations; d) payments to Basketball Coach 1 for 

coaching his son; and e) lease payments. 

13. PHILIP ESFORMES, ARNALDO CARMOUZE, and their co-conspirators 

falsified, fabricated and altered, and caused the falsification, fabrication, and alteration of 

medical records to support services purportedly rendered at Hospital 1, the Esformes Network, 

and other health care providers operated by co-conspirators. 

14. ARNALDO CARMOUZE signed what he knew to be falsified, fabricated, and 

altered prescriptions and medical records, including home health referrals, admissions at 

Hospital 1, discharge paperwork at Hospital 1, and office visit notes without pro_per supervision 

of a physician and, in many instances, without ever meeting with the Esformes Network 

beneficiary. ARNALDO CARMOUZE also prescribed medically unnecessary narcotics, 

including Oxycodone, without a license, to Esformes Network beneficiaries. 

15. PHILIP ESFORMES, ARNALDO CARMOUZE, and others, through the use 

of interstate wires, submitted and caused the submission of false and fraudulent claims to 

Medicare and Medicaid in an approximate amount of $1 billion for services that were medically 

unnecessary, never provided, and procured through the payment of kickbacks and bribes. 
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16. PIDLIP ESFORMES, ARNALDO CARMOUZE, and others, through the use 

of interstate wires, caused Medicare to pay approximately $464 million for services that were 

medically unnecessary, never provided, and procured through the payment of kickbacks and 

bribes. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1349. 

COUNTS2-3 
Health Care Fraud 
(18 u.s.c. § 1347) 

L Paragraphs 1 through 15, 18, and 30 of the General Allegations section of this 

Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. From in or around January 2009, and continuing through in or around June 2016, 

in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES 
and 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, and services, did 

knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, a scheme and artifice to defraud a 

health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined in Title 18, United States Code, 

Section 24(b), that is, Medicare, and to obtain, by means of materially false and fraudulent 

pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and under the custody 

and control of Medicare. 

Purpose of the Scheme and Artifice 

3. It was a purpose of the scheme and artifice for the defendants and their 

accomplices to unlawfully enrich themselves by, among other things: (a) creating fake medical 

documentation for services that were not rendered, not necessary, or not provided under the 

proper supervision of a physician; (b) submitting and causing the submission of false and 
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fraudulent claims to Medicare; and (c) concealing the submission of false and fraudulent claims 

to Medicare. 

The Scheme and Artifice 

4. The allegations contained in paragraphs 4 through 16 of the Manner and Means 

section of Count 1 of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully 

set forth herein as a description of the scheme and artifice only as those allegations relate to 

PIDLIP ESFORMES and ARNALDO CARMOUZE. 

Acts in Execution or Attempted Execution of the Scheme and Artifice 

5. On or about the dates set forth as to each count below, in Miami-Dade County, in 

the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PHILIP ESFORMES 
and 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

in connection with the delivery of and payment for health care benefits, items, and services, did 

knowingly and willfully execute, and attempt to execute, the above-described scheme and 

artifice to defraud a health care benefit program affecting commerce, as defined by Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 24(b ), that is, Medicare, and to obtain, by means of materially false 

and fraudulent pretenses, representations, and promises, money and property owned by, and 

under the custody and control of Medicare, that is, the defendant submitted and caused the 

submission of false and :fraudulent claims to Medicare, as listed below: 

12 




Count Beneficiary 
Name 

Approx. 
Claim Receipt 

Date 

Services 
Claimed 

Approximate 
Amount Billed 

to Medicare 

Claim Number 

2 S.J. 9/1/11 Office Visit in 
ALF 

$95 598312167120160 

3 S.J 9/14/11 OXYCODONE 
HCL Prescription 

$62 30000958375508 
19301930356 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1347 and 2. 

COUNTS 4-5 

False Statements Relating to Health Care Matters 


(18 U.S.C. § 1035(a)(2)) 


1. Paragraphs I through 15, 18, and 30 of the General Allegations section of the 

Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about the dates enumerated below, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern 

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendant, 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

in any matter involving a health care benefit program, knowingly and willfully made any 

materially false, fictitious, and fraudulent statements and representations, and made and used any 

matenally false writing and document knowing the same to contain any materially false, 

fictitious and fraudulent statement and entry, in connection with the delivery of and payment for 

health care benefits, items, and services, that is, the defendant signed prescriptions and physician 

visit treatment notes and other documents certifying that the defendant and Physician 1 provided 

services on the dates enumerated below, when in truth and in fact, and as the defendant then and 

there well knew, the defendant and Physician 1 did not provide those services on those dates: 
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Count Beneficiary 
Name 

Approx. 
Claim Receipt 

Date 

Services 
Claimed 

Approximate 
Amount Billed 

to Medicare 

Claim Number 

4 SJ. 9/1/11 
-

Office Visit in 
ALF 

$95 598312167120160 
.. 

5 S.J 9/14/11 OXYCODONE 
HCL Prescription 

$62 30000958375508 
19301930356 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1035(a)(2) and 2. 

COUNT6 

Conspiracy to Defraud the United States and Pay and Receive Health Care Kickbacks 


(18 u.s.c. § 371) 


1. Paragraphs 1 through 36 of the General Allegations and 4 through 16 of the 

manner and means section of this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as 

though fully set forth herein. 

2. From in or around January 2002, and continuing through in or around June 2016, 

in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES, 

ODETTE BARCHA, 


and 
ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

did willfully, that is, with the intent to further the objects of the conspiracy, and knowingly 

combine, conspire, confederate and agree with Guillermo Delgado, Gabriel Delgado, Nelson 

Salazar, Jose Carlos Morales, each other, and others known and unknown to the Grand Jury: 

a. to defraud the United States by impairing, impeding, obstructing, and defeating 

through deceitful and dishonest means, the lawful government functions of the United States 

Department of Health and Human Services in its administration and oversight of the Medicare 

and Medicaid programs, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, and to commit 

certain offenses against the United States, that is: 
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b. to violate Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A), by knowingly 

and willfully offering and paying remuneration, including kickbacks and bribes, directly and 

indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, to any person to induce such person to refer 

~·----·- 

an individual to a person for the furnishing and arranging for the furnishing of any item and 

service for which payment may be made in whole and in part under a federal health care 

program, that is, Medicare and Medicaid; 

c. to violate Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b)(l)(A), by knowingly 

and willfully soliciting and receiving remuneration, including kickbacks and bribes, directly and 

indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in return for referring an individual to a 

person for the furnishing and arranging for the furnishing of an item and service for which 

payment may be made in whole and in part under a federal health care program, that is, Medicare 

and Medicaid; and 

d. to violate Title 42, United States Code, 1320a-7b(b)(l)(B), by knowingly and 

willfully soliciting and receiving remuneration, including kickbacks and bribes, directly and 

indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, in return for purchasing, leasing, ordering 

and arranging for and recommending purchasing, leasing, and ordering any good, facility, and 

service, and item for which payment may be made in whole and in part under a Federal health 

care program, that is, Medicare and Medicaid. 

Purpose of the Conspiracy 

3. It was a purpose of the conspiracy for PIDLIP ESFORMES, ODETTE 

BARCHA, ARNALDO CARMOUZE, and their co-conspirators, to unlawfully enrich 

themselves by: (1) offering, paying, soliciting, and receiving kickbacks and bribes to ensure that 

Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries would serve as patients in the Esformes Network and co

conspirator providers; and (2) submitting and causing the submission of claims to Medicare and 
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Medicaid for medical items and services purportedly provided to these recruited beneficiaries. 

Manner and Means 

The manner and means by which the defendants and their co-conspirators sought to 

-· " --- --- ---------· .. -----
accomplish the purpose of the conspiracy included, among others, the following: 

4. PHILIP ESFORMES paid and caused the payment of kickbacks and bribes to 

physicians in exchange for their referrals to the Esformes Network. 

5. PHILIP ESFORMES, Nelson Salazar, Guillermo Delgado, Gabriel Delgado, 

and other created and caused to be created false and fraudulent invoices for durable medical 

equipment, which were submitted to Diversified Medical Group for payment, and used the funds 

to pay kickbacks and bribes to physicians and other medical professionals in exchange for 

medically unnecessary referrals to the Esformes Network and co-conspirators. 

6. PIDLIP ESFORMES, through shell companies owned and controlled by 

Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado, caused the payment of kickbacks and bribes to ARNALDO 

CARMOUZE in exchange for patient referrals to the Esformes Network and co-conspirators. In 

order to conceal these kickback payments, Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado, at ESFORMES' 

direction, signed checks made payable to CARMOUZE's girlfriend. 

7. PIDLIP ESFORMES, through a shell company owned and/or controlled by 

Gabriel Delgado, caused the payment of kickbacks to ODETTE BARCHA via checks made 

payable to "Barcha Consulting" or her boyfriend. 

8. ODETTE BARCHA cashed checks from Gabriel Delgado and then used the 

cash to pay physicians for referrals to the Esformes Network. 

9. ODETTE BARCHA recruited physicians who worked at Hospital 1 and paid 

those physicians to refer patients to PIDLIP ESFORMES' SNFs. 
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10. The co-conspirators paid PHILIP ESFORMES kickbacks, bribes, and other 

inducements, often through Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado, in exchange for referrals of 

Medicare and Medicaid beneficiaries that were part of the Esformes Network These co-

conspirator providers included: Tender Touch, St. Jude, Nursing Unlimited, Pharmovisa, 

Pharmacy 1, Pharmacy 2, Pharmacy 3, American Therapeutic Corporation, Greater Miami, 

Diagnostic Company l, Diagnostic Company 2, Diagnostic Company 3, Diagnostic Company 4, 

and Diagnostic Company 5, Laboratory 1, and Physician Vision Group 1. 

11. PHILIP ESFORMES received the kickbacks and bribes from the co-

conspirators which were disguised as: a) cash payments; b) payments to Escort 1, Escort 2, 

Escort 3, Escort 4, and Escort 5; c) charitable donations; d) payments to Basketball Coach 1 for 

coaching his son; and e) lease payments. 

12. Medicare and Medicaid made payments to the Esformes Network and co-

conspirators based upon claims for medical items and services purportedly provided to Medicare 

and Medicaid beneficiaries. 

Overt Acts 

In furtherance of the conspiracy, and to accomplish its objects and purpose, at least one 

of the co-conspirators committed and caused to be committed in Miami-Dade County, in the 

Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, at least one of the following overt acts, among 

others: 

1. On or about July 7, 2010, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 9457 from 

Diversified Medical Group's bank account ending in x5606, in the approximate amount of 

$1,500, to be deposited into Charity 1 's bank account for the benefit of ESFORMES' father. 

2. On or about November 12, 2011, ARNALDO CARMOUZE caused check 

number 3001 from Diversified Investment Group of Miami, Inc. bank account ending in x6837, 
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in the approximate amount of $1,250, to be deposited into his girlfriend's bank account for his 

benefit. 

3. On or about April 2, 2012, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 1464 

--------·-- -·--···-···-···--·-- -··· -· . -----· 
from the Fair Havens SNF bank account ending in x7170, in the approximate amount of $11,988, 

to be deposited into Diversified Medical Group bank account ending in x0205. 

4. On or about April 2, 2012, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 23919 

from the Oceanside Extended Care SNF bank account ending in x3409, in the approximate 

amount of $11,514, to be deposited into the Diversified Medical Group bank account ending in 

x0205. 

5. On or_ about April 2, 2012, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 1255 

from the Harmony Health SNF bank account ending in x0 102, in the approximate amount of 

$28,382, to be deposited into the Diversified Medical Group bank account ending in x5605. 

6. On or about April 2, 2012, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 17661 

from The Nursing Center at Mercy SNF bank account ending in xl238, in the approximate 

amount of $17,877, to be deposited into the Diversified Medical Group bank account ending in 

x0205. 

7. On or about June 5, 2012, ODETTE BARCHA caused check number 1065 from 


Preferred Providers Group, Inc. 's bank account ending in x4668, in the approximate amount of 


$3,500, to be deposited into her boyfriend's account for her benefit. 


8. On or about August 1, 2012, ODETTE BARCHA caused check number 1219 


from Diversified Medical Group's bank account ending in x4668, in the approximate amount of 


$1,500, to be deposited into her boyfriend's bank account for her benefit. 


9. On or about February 2, 2014, PHILIP ESFORMES reserved hotel room 1401 


for himself at the Ritz-Carlton in Orlando, Florida. 
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10. On or about February 2, 2014, Gabriel Delgado paid and arranged for Escort 1 to 

be picked up in a limousine at her residence in Miami, Florida, transported to Miami 

International Airport, flown to Orlando on an American Airlines flight, picked up in a limousine 

at the Orlando airport, and transported to Room 1454 at the Ritz-Carlton in Orlando, Florida. 

11. On or about February 2, 2014, PHILIP ESFORMES met with Escort 1 at the 

Ritz-Carlton in Orlando. 

12. On or about February 2, 2014, PHILIP ESFORMES funded the travel and 

transportation for Escort 1 with bribes and kickbacks he received from co-conspirators. 

13. On or about February 5, 2014, PHILIP ESFORMES caused Escort 1 to cash 

check number 1314, in the approximate amount of $500, from Preferred Providers Group, Inc. 's 

bank account ending x4668. 

14. On or about February 13, 2014, PHILIP ESFORMES reserved Room 1401 for 

himself at the Ritz-Carlton in Orlando, Florida. 

15. On or about February 13, 2014, Gabriel Delgado paid and arranged for Escort 2 to 

be flown to Orlando, Florida on an American Airlines flight, picked up in a limousine at the 

Orlando airport, and transported to Room 1445 at the Ritz-Carlton in Orlando, Florida. 

16. On or about February 13, 2014, PIDLIP ESFORMES met with Escort 2 at the 

Ritz-Carlton in Orlando. 

17. On or about February 13, 2014, PIDLIP ESFORMES funded the travel and 

transportation for Escort 2 with bribes and kickbacks he received from co-conspirators. 

18. On or about May 6, 2014, PIDLIP ESFORMES caused check number 1356 

from Preferred Providers Group, Inc.'s bank account ending in x4668, in the approximate 

amount of $3,500, to be deposited into Basketball Coach l's bank account. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371. 
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COUNTS 7-9 

Receipt of Kickbacks in Connection with a 


Federal Health Care Program 

(42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(l)(A)) 


__1. ___P_ar_agr~p)u;_l through 16,_18 through 30, and_ 36_ofthe General Allegations ... __ 

section of this Indictment are realleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth 

herein. 

2. On or about the dates set forth below, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern 

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PHILIP ESFORMES 
and 

ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

did knowingly and willfully solicit and receive remuneration, including kickbacks and bribes, 

directly and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, including by check, as set forth 

below, in return for referring an individual to a person for the furnishing and arranging for the 

furnishing of any item and service for which payment may be made in whole and in part under a 

federal health care program, that is, Medicare, as set forth below: 
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Approximate 
Date of Approximate 

Count Payment Amount DescriptionDefendant 
$1,250November 12, 2011 Diversified Investment Group 7 ARNALDO 

of Miami, Inc. Check number 
3Q01 

8 

CARMOUZE 

February 5, 2014 $500 Check number 1314 fromPHILIP 
Preferred Providers Group, 
Inc. bank account ending in 
x4668 made payable to Escort 
1 

9 

ESFORMES 

May 6, 2014 $3,500 Preferred Providers Group, PIDLIP 
Inc. check number 1356 made 
payable to Basketball Coach 1 

ESFORMES 

In violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b )(1)(A) and Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 

COUNTS 10-15 
Payment of Kickbacks in Connection with a Federal Health Care Program 

(42 U.S.C. § 1320a-7b(b)(2)(A)) 

1. Paragraphs 1 through 17, and 19 through 29 of the General Allegations section of 

this Indictment are re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about the dates enumerated below as to each count, in Miami-Dade County, 

in the Southern District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES 
and 

ODETTE BARCHA, 

did knowingly and willfully offer and pay remuneration, that is, kickbacks and bribes, directly 

and indirectly, overtly and covertly, in cash and in kind, including by check, as set forth below, 

to a person to induce such person to refer an individual to a person for the furnishing and 

arranging for the furnishing of any item and service for which payment may be made in whole 

and in part by a federal health care program, that is, Medicare, as set forth below: 
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Approximate 
Date of Approximate 


Count 
 Defendant Payment Amount Description 
10 PIDLIP April 2, 2012 $11,988 Fair Havens SNF check 

ESFORMES number 1464 from bank 
--~--------------········---........----------+--------account~ending_in_x1L10__

deposited into the Diversified 
Medical Group bank account 
to be paid to physicians 

11 PIDLIP April 2, 2012 $11,514 Check number 23919 from 
ESFORMES the Oceanside Extended Care 

SNF bank account ending in 
x3409 deposited into the 
Diversified Medical Group 
bank account to be paid to 
physicians 

12 PHILIP April 2, 2012 $28,382 Check number 1255 from the 
ESFORMES Harmony Health SNF bank 

account ending m x0102 
deposited into the Diversified 
Medical Group bank account 
to be paid to physicians 

13 PIDLIP April 2, 2012 $17,877 Check number 17661 from 
ESFORMES The Nursing Center at Mercy 

bank account ending in xl238 
deposited into the Diversified 
Medical Group bank account 
to be paid to physicians 

14 PHILIP June 5, 2012 $3,500 Check number 1065 from 
ESFORMES Preferred Providers Group, 

and Inc. account ending in x4668 
ODETTE deposited into A.H.'s bank 
BARCHA account 


15 
 PIDLIP August 1, 2012 $1,500 Check number 1219 from
ESFORMES Diversified Medical Group 

·and account ending in x4668 
ODETTE deposited into A.H.'s bank 
BARCHA account 

In violation of Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b )(2)(A) and Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 2. 

_____ 
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COUNT16 

Conspiracy to Commit Money Laundering 


(18 u.s.c. § 1956(h)) 


1. Paragraphs 1 through 36 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are 

re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. From in or around January 2002, to in or around June 2016, in Miami-Dade 

County, in the Southern District ofFlorida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PHILIP ESFORMES, 
ODETTE BARCHA, 

and 
ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

did knowingly and willfully combine, conspire, confederate, and agree with each other and 

others known and unknown to the Grand Jury, to commit certain offenses against the United 

States, that is, to knowingly conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and foreign 

commerce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful activity, 

knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds of some 

form of unlawful activity, and knowing that the transaction was designed, in whole and in part, 

to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, and the control of the 

proceeds of specified unlawful activity, in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 

1956(a)(l )(B)(i). 

It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activities are the receipt of kickbacks in 

connection with a federal health care program, in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 

Section 1320a-7b(b )(1 )(A), and conspiracy to commit health care fraud, in violation of Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 1349. 

All in violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(h). 
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COUNTS 17-25 

Money Laundering 


(18 U.S.C. § 1956(a)(l){B)(i)) 


1. Paragraphs 1 through 36 of the General Allegations section of this Indictment are 

----------------·--·---	 .. 
re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein. 

2. On or about the dates set forth below, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern 

District of Florida, and elsewhere, the defendants, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES, 
ODETTE BARCHA, 

and 
ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

did knowingly conduct and attempt to conduct a financial transaction affecting interstate and 

foreign commerce, which financial transaction involved the proceeds of specified unlawful 

activity, knowing that the property involved in the financial transaction represented the proceeds 

of some form of unlawful activity, and knowing that the transaction was designed, in whole and 

in part, to conceal and disguise the nature, the location, the source, the ownership, and the 

control of the proceeds ofspecified unlawful activity, as set forth below: 

Count Defendant 

Approximate 
Date of 

Payment 
Approximate 

Amount Description 
17 PIDLIP 

ESFORMES 
and 

ARNALDO 

November 12, 2011 $1,250 Diversified Investment Group 
of Miami, Inc. Check #3001 
made payable to E.M. 

CARMOUZE 
18 PHILIP 

ESFORMES 
April 2, 2012 $11,988 Fair Havens SNF check 

#1464 from bank account 
ending in x7 l 70 deposited 
into the Diversified Medical 
Group bank account 
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Count Defendant 

Approximate 
Date of 

Payment 
Approximate 

Amount Description 
19 PHILIP 

ESFORMES 
- - - -~ -

April 2, 2012 

- -~------~---

$11,514 

--· 

Check number 23919 from 
the Oceanside Extended Care 
SNF .bank ac_cmmLendingjn_ 
x3409 deposited into the 
Diversified Medical Group 
bank account 

20 PIDLIP 
ESFORMES 

April 2, 2012 $28,382 Check number 1255 from the 
Harmony Health SNF bank 
account ending Ill x0102 
deposited into the Diversified 
Medical Group bank account 

21 PHILIP 
ESFORMES 

April 2, 2012 $17,877 Checknumber 17661 from 
The Nursing Center at Mercy 
bank account ending in xl238 
deposited into the Diversified 
Medical Group bank account 

22 PIDLIP 
ESFORMES 

and 
ODETTE 
BARCHA 

June 5, 2012 $3,500 Check number 1065 from 
Preferred Providers Group, 
Inc. account ending in x4668 
made payable to A.H. 

23 PIDLIP 
ESFORMES 

and 
ODETTE 
BARCHA 

August 1, 2012 $1,500 Check number 1219 from 
Diversified Medical Group 
account ending in x4668 
made payable to A.H. 

24 PIDLIP 
ESFORMES 

February 5, 2014 $500 Check number 1314 from 
Preferred Providers Group, 
Inc. bank account ending in 
x4668 made payable to Escort 
1 

25 PHILIP 
ESFORMES 

May 6, 2014 $3,500 Preferred Providers Group, 
Inc. check number 1356 made 
payable to Coach 1 
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It is further alleged that the specified unlawful activities are receipt of kickbacks in 

connection with a federal health care program, in violation of Title 42, United States Code, 

Section 1320a-7b(b )(1 )(A), and conspiracy to commit health care fraud, in violation of Title 18, 

·- --···---- --··· -- .. . --·-"• --- ~--- -- - -·
United States Code, Section 1349. 


In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1956(a)(l)(B)(i) and 2. 


COUNT26 
Obstruction of Justice 

(18 u.s.c. § 1503) 

In or around June 2015, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES, 

did corruptly influence, obstruct and impede, and endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede, the 

due administration of justice by funding Guillermo Delgado's flight from the United States to 

avoid trial in United States v. Guillermo Delgado et. al, Case No. 14-CR-20359-Martinez. 

In violation ofTitle 18, United States Code, Sections 1503 and 2. 

COUNT27 
Obstruction of Justice 

(18 u.s.c. § 1503) 

In or around June 2015, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida, and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

PIDLIP ESFORMES, 

did corruptly influence, obstruct and impede, and endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede, the 

due administration of justice by creating false affidavits for Guillermo and Gabriel Delgado, 

stating that PIDLIP ESFORMES was not involved in the commission of health care fraud, to 

be used in the proceeding, United States v. Guillermo Delgado et. al, Case No. 14-CR-20359

Martinez. 
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In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1503 and 2. 

COUNT28 
Obstruction of Justice 

(18 u.s.c. § 1503) 

In or around June 2016, in Miami-Dade County, in the Southern District of Florida and 

elsewhere, the defendant, 

ODETTE BARCHA, 

did corruptly influence, obstruct and impede, and endeavor to influence, obstruct and impede, the 

due administration of justice by creating sham medical director contracts for Hospital 1, to 

conceal the fact that ODETTE BARCHA paid physicians kickbacks for referrals to Hospital 1 

and the Esformes Network, and providing those sham medical director contracts to the 

Department of Justice in response to a Grand Jury subpoena. 

In violation of Title 18, United States Code, Sections 1503 and 2. 

FORFEITURE 

(18 U.S.C. §§ 981 and 982) 


1. The allegations of this Indictment, including the General Allegations section, are 

re-alleged and incorporated by reference as though fully set forth herein for the purpose of 

alleging forfeiture to the United States of America of certain property in which one or more of 

the defendants, PHILIP ESFORMES, ODETTE BARCHA, and ARNALDO CARMOUZE, 

have an interest. 

2. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 371, 

and/or a violation of, or a conspiracy to violate, Title 18, United States Code, Section 1035, 

Section 1343, Section 1347, and/or Title 42, United States Code, Section 1320a-7b(b), as alleged 

in this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the United States of America, 

pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(a)(7), any property, real or personal, that 
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constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the commission 

of such violation. 

3. Upon conviction of a violation of, or a conspiracy to violate, Title 18, United 

States Code, Section 1956(a), as alleged in this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall 

forfeit to the United States .of America, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 

982( a)( 1 ), any property, real or personal, that is involved in the offense, or any property traceable 

to such property. 

4. Upon conviction of a violation of Title 18, United States Code, Section 1503, as 

alleged in this Indictment, the defendant so convicted shall forfeit to the United States of 

America, pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C), any property, real or 

personal, that constitutes or is derived, directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the 

commission of such violation. 

5. The property which is subject to forfeiture includes, but is not limited to, the 

following: 

(a) Forfeiture Money Judgments: A sum of money equal in value to the 

following, for which the United States will seek entry as a forfeiture money judgment against the 

defendants, jointly and severally, where applicable, as part of their respective sentence in this 

case: 

1. The property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, 

directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the federal health care offenses, as defined 

in Title 18, United States Code, Section 24, as alleged in this Indictment; 

2. The property, real or personal, that was involved in the violations 

of, or the conspiracy to violate, Title 18, United States Code, Section 1956(a)(l)(B)(i), as alleged 

in this Indictment, or any property traceable to such property; and 

28 




3. The property, real or personal, that constitutes or is derived, 

directly or indirectly, from gross proceeds traceable to the violation of Title 18, United States 

Code, Section 1503, as alleged in this Indictment. 

(b) Real Property: The real property, together with all appurtenances, 

improvements and attachments, therein and/or thereon, which are known and numbered as 

follows: 

(1) 5077 N. Bay Road, Miami Beach, Florida 33140; 

(2) 5069 N. Bay Road, Miami Beach, Florida 33140; 

(3) 980 W. 48th Street, Miami Beach, Florida 33140; 

(4) 180 E. Pearson Unit 7201, Chicago, Illinois 60611; 

(5) 6894 S. Clyde Avenue 59, Chicago, Illinois 60649; and 

(6) 9427 Sawyer Street, Los Angeles, California 90035. 

(c) Personal Property: All principal, deposits, interest, dividends, and/or any 

other amounts credited to the following: 

1. Account number 005487691516 held at Bank of America, N.A. in 

the name of Sherri Beth Esformes and Philip Esformes; 

2. Account number 898049003513 held at Bank of America, N.A. in 

the name of Sherri Beth Esformes & Philip Esformes; 

3. Account number 0036 7620 9546 held at Bank ofAmerica, N.A. in 

the name of Philip Esformes & Julie Betancourt; 

4. Account number 003447083409 held at Bank of America, N.A. in 

the name of ADME DBA Oceanside Extended Care; 

5. Account number 5801046102 held at Bank of America, N.A. in the 

name of Ayintove Associates DBA Harmony Health Center; 
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6. Account number 8666087170 held at Bank of America, N.A. in the 

name of Fair Haven LLC; 

7. Account number 605575 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes; 

8. Account number 102747 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Sherri Esformes, Jason Tennenbaum, or Philip Esformes; 

9. Account number 311901 held at 1st Equity Bank, N .A. in the name 

of Sherri Esformes and Philip Esformes; 

10. Account number 204735 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

ofPhilip Esformes Inc. (C/O Norman Knopf); 

11. Account number 503456 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Sherri Esformes and Philip Esformes (Special Account Tax Escrow); 

12. Account number 209882 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes Inc.; 

13. Account number 312320 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes Inc. (Pension Plan and Trust); 

14. Account number 606212 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Es form es, Sherri Esformes, Alvin Norman Knopf (FBO Sherri and Philip Esformes ); 

15. Account number 454362 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes Inc. Pension Plan; 

16. Account number 507858 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes, Julie Betancourt Charity Account; 

17. Account number 505872 held at 1st Equity Bank, N.A. in the name 

of Philip Esformes and Sherri Esformes; 
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18. Account number 5050265956 held at FirstMerit Bank, N.A. in the 

name of Philip Esformes, Inc.; 

19. Account number 901021308783 held at FirstMerit Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Philip Esformes or Alvin Norman Knopf; 

20. Account number 1560024295 held at MB Financial Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Philip Esformes or Alvin N Knopf; 

21. Account number 1560001283 held at MB Financial Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Sefardik DBA Nursing Home at Mercy; 

22. Account number 0002412024 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Almovea Associates (DBA North Dade Nursing and Rehab Center) - Deposit 

Account; 

23. Account number 0002413948 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Almovea Associates (DBA North Dade Nursing and Rehab Center) Operating 

Account; 

24. Account number 0002369785 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Adirhu Associates LLC; 

25. Account number 0002369727 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Kabirhu Associates LLC - Daisa Account; 

26. Account number 0002369777 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Kabirhu Associates, LLC; 

27. Account number 0002369735 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Takifhu Associates LLC, Gramercy Park Nursing Center Daisa Account; 

28. Account number 0002369793 held at The Private Bank, N.A. in 

the name of Takifhu Associates LLC, Gramercy Park Nursing Center; 
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29. Account number 110011129 held at Optimum Bank, N.A. in the 

name ofKabirhu Associates LLC DBA Golden Glades Nursing & Rehabilitation Center; 

30. Account number 110012135 held at Optimum Bank, N.A. in the 

name ofKabirhu Associates LLC DBA Golden Glades Nursing & Rehabilitation Center; 

31. Account number 110011137 held at Optimum Bank, N.A. in the 

name ofTakifhu Associates LLC DBA South Dade Nursing & Rehabilitation Center; 

32. Account number 110012143 held at Optimum Bank, N.A. in the 

name ofTakifhu Associates LLC DBA South Dade Nursing & Rehabilitation Center; 

33. Account number 110011145 held at Optimum Bank, N.A. in the 

name of Adirhu Associates LLC C/O Donna Prieto; 

34. Account number 16021230 held at National Securities Bank, N.A. 

in the name of Philip Esformes Inc. Pension Xl230; 

3,::
.}. Account number NAV-036112 held at in National Securities Bank, 

N.A. the name of Sherri Esformes X6112; and 

36. Account number NA V-008990 held at National Securities Bank, 

N.A. in the name of Philip Esformes X8990. ·') 'L ti'\ ·J _ . , , . ·~ ~. L.. i' i~ 2 C i I'\·:-.\'" 
"..)T . ·t"i. l l(J \--1 
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(1) One (1) Greubel Forsey Technique timepiece (ALDC No. 14). <1t{J/ 
(e) Substitute Property: If any of the property described above in paragraphs 2 

through 5 of these Forfeiture Allegations, as a result of any act or omission of a defendant: 

(1) cannot be located upon the exercise of due diligence; 

(2) has been transferred or sold to, or deposited with, a third party; 

(3) has been placed beyond the jurisdiction of the court; 

4. has been substantially diminished in value; or 
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5. has been commingled with other property which cannot be divided 

without difficulty, the United States of America shall be entitled to criminal forfeiture of any 

other property of the defendants, pursuant to Title 21, United States Code, Section 853(p ), up to 

the value of the property described above in subparagraphs (1) through (5), as applicable. The 

property which is subject to criminal forfeiture as substitute property includes, but is not limited 

to, the following: 

Substitute Personal Property: 

(1) One (1) 1968 Silver Ford (VIN 8R02S 116990); and 

(2) One (1) 2014 Black Piaggio (VIN ZAPM459L0E5802248). 

Substitute Real Property: The real property, together with all 

appurtenances, improvements and attachments, therein and/or thereon, which are known and 

numbered as follows: 

(1) 201 Curtiss Parkway, Miami, Florida 33166; 

(2) 240, 250 and 260 East 5 Street, Hialeah, Florida 33010; 

(3) 1595 NE 145 Street, Miami, Florida 33161; 

(4) 3051 E. 4 Avenue, Hialeah, Florida 33010; 

(5) 59 E 7 Street, 67 E. 7 Street and 75 E. 7 Street, Hialeah, Florida 

33010; 

(6) 130 W. 28 Street, 140 W. 28 Street, 150 W. 28 Street, 160 W. 28 

Street, 141 W. 27 Street, Hialeah, Florida 33010; 

(7) 550 9 Street, Miami Beach, Florida 33139; and 

(8) 1221 W. Dixie Highway, Miami, Florida 33161. 
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All pursuant to Title 18, United States Code, Sections 982(a)(l) and (a)(7), Title 18, 

United States Code, Section 981(a)(l)(C), as made applicable by Title 28, United States Code, 

Section 2461(c), and the procedures set forth at Title 21, United States Code, Section 853, as 

made applicable by Title 18, United States Code, Section 982(b ). 

A TRUE 'RTT T --- 

JOSEPH EEM 

FOR 

DEPUTY CHIEF 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF WSTICE 

ALLA INA 
ASSIST ANT CHIEF 
CRIMINAL DIVISION, FRAUD SECTION 
U.S. DEPARTMENT OF JUS 
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